
STATE OF ILLINOIS 
 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 
 
 
Illinois Commerce Commission   : 

On Its Own Motion    : 
-vs-     : 

The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company : 06-0311 
       : 
Citation for alleged violation of Commission : 
Rules Regarding External Corrosion   : 
Control.      : 
 
 

ORDER 
 
 
I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 
 
 In an Order dated April 19, 2006, the Illinois Commerce Commission 
(“Commission”) commenced this proceeding to determine whether The Peoples Gas 
Light and Coke Company (“Peoples Gas” or “Respondent”) failed to: 1) comply with the 
cathodic protection inspection requirements of 49 CFR § 192.465(a); 2) test corrosion 
control segments on an annual and/or ten-year testing schedule as required by 
Commission rules; 3) take prompt remedial action to correct any deficiencies indicated 
by the monitoring as required by 49 CFR § 192.465(d); and 4) comply with the 
requirement of 49 CFR § 192.13(c) by failing to follow its Corrosion Control Policy, 
Operation and Maintenance Plan.  Additionally, this proceeding addresses whether civil 
penalties should be imposed pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety 
Act. 
 

Appearances were entered by counsel on behalf of Peoples Gas, Commission 
Staff (“Staff”) and the City of Chicago (the “City”).   
 
 The Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) granted petitions to intervene filed by 
People of the State of Illinois by the Office of the Attorney General (“OAG”), the People 
of Cook County by the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office (“CCSAO”), and the 
Citizens Utility Board (“CUB”).   
 
 Pursuant to proper legal notice, a status hearing was held before the ALJ AT the 
Commission’s offices in Chicago, Illinois on May 9, 2006.  A schedule was set for filing 
testimony and evidentiary hearings. 
 
 On August 23, 2006, Staff filed the direct testimony of Darin Burk, Pipeline Safety 
Analyst II in the Commission’s Pipeline Safety Program of the Energy Division. 
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 On November 3, 2006, the parties filed: 1) a Joint Motion for Entry of Order 
(“Joint Motion”) identifying a unanimous settlement agreement among the parties; 2) a 
Stipulation signed by all parties; 3) a Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) signed by 
Peoples Gas and the Commission’s Executive Director and 4) an Agreed Order drafted 
by the parties.  Also on November 3, 2006, Staff filed a Response to the Joint Motion, 
stating that Staff played an integral role in developing the terms of the parties’ 
settlement and associated documents.  Staff recommends that the Commission 
consider the Stipulation and MOU, enter a final order in substantially the form of the 
Agreed Order, and enter into the MOU with Peoples Gas. 
 
 The record in this case was marked “heard and taken” on December 6, 2006. 
 
II. APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARDS 
 
 The United States Department of Transportation promulgated 49 C.F.R. 
§192.465, which the Commission adopted by reference in 83 Ill. Admin. Code Part 590.  
That rule states in part: 
 

Sec. 192.465 External corrosion control: Monitoring.  
 

(a) Each pipeline that is under cathodic protection must be 
tested at least once each calendar year, but with intervals 
not exceeding 15 months, to determine whether the cathodic 
protection meets the requirements of § 192.463.  However, if 
tests at those intervals are impractical for separately 
protected short sections of mains or transmission lines, not 
in excess of 100 feet (30 meters), or separately protected 
service lines, these pipelines may be surveyed on a 
sampling basis.  At least 10 percent of these protected 
structures, distributed over the entire system must be 
surveyed each calendar year, with a different 10 percent 
checked each subsequent year, so that the entire system is 
tested in each 10-year period.    

. . . 
 

(d) Each operator shall take prompt remedial action to 
correct any deficiencies indicated by the monitoring. 

 
Under Section 3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (“Pipeline Act, the 

Commission shall: 
 

...adopt rules establishing minimum safety standards for the 
transportation of gas and for pipeline facilities.  Such rules 
shall be at least as inclusive, as stringent, and compatible 
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with, the minimum safety standards adopted by the 
Secretary of Transportation under the Federal Act.  

 
220 ILCS 20/3.  In 1977, the Commission incorporated the applicable federal rules, 
by reference, into 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590, “Minimum Safety Standards for 
Transportation of Gas and for Gas Pipeline Facilities” (“Part 590”). 
 

Section 7(a) of the Pipeline Act subjects local gas distribution companies to civil 
penalty for violations of Section 6(a) of the Pipeline Act.  Section 6(a)(1) requires 
compliance with safety standards.  The amount of the civil penalty is $100,000 per 
violation, capped at $1 million for a related series of violations.  49 USC 60122(a)(1); 
220 ILCS 20/7(a).  Such penalty is recovered by the OAG through the circuit courts, and 
proceeds go into the general fund of the State Treasury. 

 
Section 7(b) of the Pipeline Act describes the criteria that the Commission must 

consider in determining whether to assess a civil penalty for a violation of the Pipeline 
Act.  That section, in relevant part, states: “the Commission shall consider the 
appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the business of the person charged, the 
gravity of the violation, and the good faith of the person charged in attempting to 
achieve compliance, after notification of a violation.”  220 ILCS 20/7(b). 
 
III. RECORD EVIDENCE  
 
 As noted above, Staff filed testimony (ICC Staff Ex. 1.0) by Darin Burk, an 
analyst in the Energy Division’s Pipeline Safety Program.  In the Stipulation, the OAG, 
CCSAO, City, and CUB request that Mr. Burk’s testimony be admitted into evidence for 
purposes of supporting the settlement.  Peoples Gas states that it does not contest that 
Mr. Burk’s testimony is sufficient to support the Stipulation and the MOU.  The testimony 
was admitted to the record by an ALJ’s Ruling on November 30, 2006. 
 
 According to Mr. Burk, records provided by Peoples Gas to Staff during a 
January 2004 record audit reveal that, in calendar year 2003, Peoples Gas failed to 
monitor short sections of steel main and isolated steel gas services within the ten-year 
interval required by CFR Part 192.465(a).  During that January 2004 audit, Staff 
recorded thirteen examples of steel sections not monitored as required in either 2002 or 
2003.  Consequently, Staff issued a notice of Apparent Non-compliance to Peoples 
Gas, in the form of correspondence dated January 30, 2004.  ICC Staff Ex. 1.0 at 9.  
The notice stated that the records review showed that Peoples Gas had not complied 
with the corrosion control monitoring activities required under the Code of Federal 
Regulations (“CFR”) and requested a reply describing the actions Peoples Gas intended 
to initiate to prevent reoccurrence of the problem.  Id. at 9. 
 
 In a February 25, 2004 letter to Rex Evans, the Commission’s Program Manager 
for Pipeline Safety, Peoples Gas responded to Staff’s January 30 notice.  Peoples Gas 
explained that it had been applying guidance gleaned from a statement by an Office of 
Pipeline Safety Director in a public forum. In Peoples Gas’ view, that guidance 
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suggested that a natural gas system operator had until the next scheduled survey to 
correct conditions found during monitoring , and that Peoples Gas considered this to 
include the repair of test stations and test lead wires. The letter also stated that 
corrective actions, when needed to restore system protection levels to the requirements 
of 49 CFR part 192 Appendix D, are completed within the stated timeframe. The letter 
also stated that Peoples Gas had revised its corrosion test station monitoring schedule 
by compressing sufficient time to perform required repairs and obtain a reading within 
the mandated window. The letter asserted that additional emphasis had been placed on 
scheduling and completing repairs to coincide with code deadlines.  Id. Attachment D. 
 
 In March 2005, Staff performed a follow-up audit of Peoples Gas corrosion 
control monitoring program.  During this follow-up, Staff discovered the following issues 
with respect to Peoples Gas’ corrosion control monitoring program: fifty-four isolated 
service lines due for testing in 2003 had not been tested as of March 9, 2005; one 
isolated service line due for testing in 2004 had not been tested as of March 9, 2005; 
five isolated segments of main in excess of 100 feet were not tested as required in 
2003; twenty-one corrosion control families requiring annual testing in 2004 were not 
tested within the fifteen month interval required; four corrosion control families requiring 
annual testing were not tested at all in 2004; and eighteen corrosion control test points 
found to have less than adequate levels of cathodic protection in 2003 did not receive 
corrective actions in 2003 or 2004.  Id. at 10.  These findings in 2005 indicated that the 
issues identified in Staff’s 2004 notice had not been corrected, and that additional 
violations existed as well.  Id. at 10-12. 
 

Accordingly, another notice of non-compliance was issued to Peoples Gas, in the 
form of correspondence dated April 21, 2005, stating that during the March 2005 audit 
Staff found Peoples Gas in non-compliance with CFR Part 192.465(d), which concerns  
the failure to take prompt remedial action to correct deficiencies indicated by monitoring.  
Id. Attachment F. 

 
Peoples Gas responded in a letter dated May 16, 2005, stating it had recently 

revised its Corrosion Control Policy to state  that its “objective is to complete necessary 
remedial action such that cathodic protection is restored to the system within one year 
from the time of discovery of the inadequate protection level.”   Peoples Gas confirmed 
that over 3000 test points had not been monitored as required in calendar years 2003 
and 2004 combined.  Id., Attachment G.  Peoples Gas also sent a follow-up letter on 
October 12, 2005, with a weekly corrosion workload reporting sheet, which detailed 
Peoples Gas’ attempts at compliance.  Id. 

 
In January 2006, Staff conducted an analysis of the corrosion control records 

maintained by Peoples. The review included a historical review of corrosion control test 
points that were recorded as having less than adequate levels of cathodic protection 
and remedial actions that had been taken.  All of the test points reviewed by Staff in 
Peoples Gas’ records indicated adequate levels of protection.  Id., at 13. 
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IV. SETTLEMENT TERMS 
 
 The Parties have negotiated a unanimous settlement, memorialized in the 
Stipulation and MOU.  Pursuant to the Stipulation, the terms of the settlement are as 
follows: 
 
A. Peoples Gas acknowledges that it was not in compliance with applicable 

federal and state pipeline safety regulations -- viz., 49 CFR §192.13(c) 
and 49 CFR §192.465(a) and (d), adopted by the Commission at 83 Ill. 
Admin. Code 590 pursuant to Section 3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety 
Act (220 ILCS 20/3) -- respecting cathodic protection inspection and 
remediation and compliance with the requirement to maintain and follow 
procedures and programs in that regard by being late in conducting 
corrosion testing on certain service pipes and main segments that were 
due for inspection in before and during 2003 and 2004 and by failing to 
perform corrective action during 2004 and 2005 at test points on certain 
service pipes and main segments found to be out of compliance during in 
2003 and 2004. 

 
B. As a result of its failure to comply with the applicable Commission pipeline 

safety regulations, Peoples Gas, pursuant to §7 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline 
Safety Act (220 ILCS 20/7), will pay a penalty in the amount of 
$1,000,000. 

 
C. Peoples Gas will execute a Memorandum of Understanding with the 

Commission, pursuant to which Peoples Gas agrees to pay for and 
cooperate with a consultant retained by the Commission and performing 
under the direction and control of the Commission.  The consultant will be 
hired by the Commission pursuant to the Commission’s normal RFP 
process.  The consultant will conduct a comprehensive investigation of 
Peoples Gas’ compliance with the Commission’s pipeline safety 
regulations, including (but not limited to) evaluation of record-keeping 
procedures, substantiation of pipeline safety inspection records, and 
verification of recorded pipeline safety conditions, followed by an audit of 
Peoples continuing actions to implement recommended improvements to 
its pipeline safety program.   

 
D. Peoples Gas agrees that it will bring the utility into compliance with the  

Commission’s pipeline safety regulations, including conforming to prudent 
utility practices as generally understood in the industry and/or such 
practices as determined by Commission Staff in conjunction with Peoples 
Gas.  In consultation with the Commission, Peoples Gas will develop a 
program to address the directives identified by the Commission’s 
consultant set forth in paragraph C of this agreement. 
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E. Peoples Gas agrees not to seek recovery in any future rate or 
reconciliation proceeding before the Commission of costs or expenses 
that are solely attributable to Peoples Gas’ not performing corrosion 
inspections in a timely manner as specified in paragraph of this agreement 
or to any incremental costs caused solely by a violation of the Illinois Gas 
Pipeline Safety Act or its implementing regulations (“the Act”) discovered 
by the Commission’s consultant referred to in paragraph of this 
agreement, and which are over and above the prudent and reasonable 
costs necessary to comply with the Act.  Peoples Gas shall operate an 
internal tracking mechanism to account for any such incremental costs.  
Peoples Gas shall respond to reasonable inquiries by Commission Staff or 
intervenors concerning the information gathered by this tracking 
mechanism.  Peoples Gas also agrees not to recover any fees paid to the 
consultants retained by Peoples Gas or by the Commission (collectively, 
“the Consultants”) in connection with or as a result of ICC Dkt. 06-0311.       

 
F. Peoples Gas and the City (through its Department of Environment) will 

institute a continuing arrangement focused on a series of regular meetings 
for mutual exchanges of information, coordination of activities, and 
planning patterned on the City’s arrangement with Commonwealth Edison 
Company.  The arrangement will include, inter alia, regular updates and 
discussions regarding the status of infrastructure operational reliability, 
pending and planned capital improvements, pipeline condition and safety, 
emergency response measures, and other programs/projects.  Other City 
departments, such as Transportation and Water, also will participate in the 
meetings on an as needed basis.   

 
G. This settlement of the pending proceeding resolves only the matter before 

the Commission and does not constitute a release or waiver of any 
applicable criminal and/or civil law or statutes by the Illinois Attorney 
General or the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office nor shall the 
settlement of this matter preclude the Illinois Attorney General or the Cook 
County State’s Attorney’s Office from exercising their respective law 
enforcement obligations of any applicable criminal or civil laws or statutes 
related to any issues addressed by this Stipulation, the Agreed Order, or 
Joint Motion for Agreed Order in this Docket No. 06-0311, including, but 
without limitation, any action under the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act or any 
other similar statute or ordinance.  This settlement is intended to settle 
only Docket 06-0311. 

 
 Staff recommends that the Commission consider the Stipulation and MOU and 
enter a final order approving the terms of the settlement set forth in the Stipulation and 
the MOU with Peoples Gas. 
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V. COMMISSION CONCLUSION 
 
 The Commission finds that the terms of the settlement reached by the parties 
and recommended by Staff are reasonable and provide an appropriate resolution for 
this docket.  We have the legal authority to adopt a settlement that, as in the present 
case, has the unanimous support of all the parties.  See, Business and Professional 
People for the Public Interest v. Illinois Commerce Commission, 136 Ill. 2d 192, 216-17 
(1989).  Moreover, the Commission concludes that the terms of the settlement are 
adequately supported by the testimony of Staff witness Burk.  Accordingly, the 
Commission approves and adopts the terms of the Stipulation set forth above in Section 
III of this Order as a final settlement of this docket.  We also approve the Memorandum 
of Understanding entered into with Peoples Gas (appended to this Order). 
 
VI. FINDINGS AND ORDERING PARAGRAPHS 
 
 The Commission, having considered the entire record herein and being fully 
advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds that: 
 

(1) Peoples Gas is engaged in the business of furnishing gas service to the 
public in the State of Illinois, and is subject to the Illinois Pipeline Safety 
Act; 

 
(2) the Commission has jurisdiction over Peoples Gas and the subject 

matter herein; 
 

(3) the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the prefatory 
portion of this Order are supported by the record herein and are hereby 
adopted as findings of fact and conclusions of law; 

 
(4) as acknowledged by Peoples Gas in the Stipulation, and as supported 

by the evidence, Peoples Gas was not in compliance with applicable 
federal and state pipeline safety regulations -- viz., 49 CFR §192.13(c) 
and 49 CFR §192.465(a) and (d), adopted by the Commission at 83 Ill. 
Admin. Code 590 pursuant to Section 3 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline 
Safety Act (220 ILCS 20/3) -- respecting cathodic protection inspection 
and remediation and the requirement to maintain and follow procedures 
and programs, by being late in conducting corrosion testing on certain 
service pipes and main segments that were due for inspection before 
and during 2003 and 2004, and by failing to perform corrective action 
during 2004 and 2005 at test points on certain service pipes and main 
segments found to be out of compliance during in 2003 and 2004; 

 
(5) in light of all of the circumstances and evidence described in this Order, 

a civil penalty of $1,000,000 is warranted under 220 ILCS 20/7; 
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(6) the Commission and Peoples Gas shall enter into the Memorandum of 
Understanding attached to this Order, pursuant to which Peoples Gas 
will pay for and cooperate with a consultant retained by and performing 
under the direction and control of the Commission, to conduct a 
comprehensive investigation of Peoples Gas’ compliance with the 
Commission’s pipeline safety regulations; 

 
(7) the consultant to be retained by the Commission pursuant to the 

Memorandum of Understanding shall be hired by the Commission 
pursuant to its normal RFP process; 

 
(8) in consultation with the Commission, Peoples Gas shall develop a 

program to address the recommendations identified by the 
Commission’s consultant retained pursuant to the Memorandum of 
Understanding; 

 
(9) pursuant to its agreement in the Stipulation, Peoples Gas shall bring the 

utility into compliance with the Commission’s pipeline safety regulations, 
including conforming to prudent utility practices as generally understood 
in the industry and/or such practices as determined by Commission Staff 
in conjunction with Peoples Gas;  

 
(10) pursuant to the Stipulation, Peoples Gas and the City (through its 

Department of Environment) shall institute a continuing arrangement 
focused on a series of regular meetings for mutual exchanges of 
information, coordination of activities, and planning patterned on the 
City’s arrangement with Commonwealth Edison Company; 

 
(11) pursuant to its agreement in the Stipulation, Peoples Gas shall not seek 

recovery, in any future rate or reconciliation proceeding before the 
Commission, of costs or expenses solely attributable to Peoples Gas’ 
not performing corrosion inspections in a timely manner, as specified in 
paragraph 4 above, or any incremental costs caused solely by violation 
of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act or its implementing regulations 
(“the Act”) discovered by the Commission’s consultant retained pursuant 
to the Memorandum of Understanding, and which are over and above 
the prudent and reasonable costs necessary to comply with the Act.   
Peoples Gas shall operate an internal tracking mechanism to account for 
any such incremental costs.  Peoples Gas shall respond to reasonable 
inquiries by Commission Staff or intervenors concerning the information 
gathered by this tracking mechanism.  Also, Peoples Gas should not 
recover any fees paid to the consultants retained by Peoples Gas or by 
the Illinois Commerce Commission (collectively, “the Consultants”) in 
connection with or as a result of ICC Docket 06-0311; 
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(12) the Memorandum of Understanding should be appended to, and 
incorporated in, this Order; and 

 
(13) pursuant to the Stipulation, the settlement reached by the parties 

resolves only the matter before the Commission in this proceeding and 
does not constitute a release or waiver of any applicable criminal and/or 
civil law or statutes by the Illinois Attorney General or the Cook County 
State’s Attorney’s Office, nor shall the settlement of this matter preclude 
the Illinois Attorney General or the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office 
from exercising their respective law enforcement obligations under any 
applicable criminal or civil laws or statutes related to any issues 
addressed by this Stipulation, the Agreed Order, or Joint Motion for 
Agreed Order in this Docket 06-0311, including, but without limitation, 
any action under the Illinois Consumer Fraud Act or any other similar 
statute or ordinance.  This settlement is intended to settle only Docket 
06-0311. 

 
 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the settlement among the parties to this 
proceeding, as contained in the Stipulation and Memorandum of Understanding, is 
hereby approved for the purpose of resolving the matters addressed in those settlement 
documents 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Memorandum of Understanding is approved 
and adopted by the Commission; the Memorandum of Understanding shall be 
appended to, and incorporated in, this Order. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Peoples Gas shall implement findings (6) and 
(8) through (11), as described in those findings.  
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this matter shall be referred to the Attorney 
General of the State of Illinois to recover penalties pursuant to Section 7(c) of the Illinois 
Pipeline Safety Act.  
 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, subject to the provisions of Section 10-113 of 
the Public Utilities Act and 83 Ill. Adm. Code 200.880, this Order is final; it is not subject 
to the Administrative Review Law. 
 
 By Order of the Commission this 20th day of December, 2006. 
 
 
 
        (SIGNED) CHARLES E. BOX 
 
         Chairman 
 
 


